IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JPMORGA	AN	CHASE	BA	NK,	N.A.	, as
successor	by	merger	to	Cha	se H	ome
Finance L	LC,					

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Case No. 71839 Apr 13 2017 09:34 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

District Court Case No. . Clerk of Supreme Court

TO **DEADLINE OPENING BRIEF AND APPENDIX**

JURISDICTION

The judgment of the court of appeals was entered on August 12, 2016. Pet. App. 1a. The court of appeals denied petitioner's timely petition for rehearing en banc on November 4, 2016. Pet. App. 43a-44a. On January 30, 2017, the Justice Kennedy extended the time to file this petition through March 6, 2017. No. 16A753. On February 24, 2017, the Justice Kennedy further extended the time to file this petition through April 3, 2017. *Id.* This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).

RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The relevant provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes §§ 116.31162, 116.31163, 116.31168 are included in Appendix D of this petition.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition arises from a conflict most directly between the Ninth Circuit and the Nevada Supreme Court over the constitutionality of a Nevada statute. That conflict has thrown into disarray hundreds of cases pending in state and federal courts in the aftermath of the mass foreclosures during the recent recession. The conflict is so untenable that Wells Fargo, respondent in this case and the losing party in the Nevada Supreme Court, has obtained a stay of the Nevada judgment pending its planned filing of a petition for a writ of certiorari in this Court on the same basic question.

The decision below also created a circuit conflict over a broader, even more important question of constitutional law that affects the real estate foreclosure laws of many other states as well. In particular, the courts are divided over whether nonjudicial foreclosures constitute a form of state action subject to the notice and other requirements of the Due Process Clause. The decision below would condemn as facially unconstitutional the laws of at least ten other states besides Nevada (including the law in at least one other state in the Ninth Circuit), despite multiple decisions by other circuits and state supreme courts holding that those state statutes are not subject to Due Process challenge, for lack of state action.

I. Legal Background

1. State laws pervasively permit lenders, homeowners' associations, taxing authorities, repairmen, and others to secure payment by recording a lien on the debtor's real property. When

the debt is defaulted, the lienholder may foreclose on the property, causing it to be sold. The distribution of the proceeds is determined by the priority of the liens, which is established by state law (often by statute). If the sale produces less money than is needed to satisfy all the creditors, those with liens of lesser priority (often called "junior" lienholders) may not be paid.

State law also determines what happens to the liens after the sale is completed. A foreclosure sale ordinarily extinguishes all liens junior to the lien being foreclosed upon, but leaves intact any senior liens. See, e.g., Grant S. Nelson et al., Real Estate FINANCE LAW § 7:20 (6th ed. 2014) [hereinafter Real ESTATE FINANCE LAW]; RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF Property (Mortgages) § 7.1 cmt. a; see also United States v. Brosnan, 363 U.S. 237, 250 (1960) (noting that a "private sale of its own force [is] effective under California law to extinguish all junior liens"). This established rule allows the purchaser to take title to the foreclosed property free and clear of the liens. thereby removing iunior impediment to the remedy's effectiveness.

2. Many homes (particularly in states like Nevada) are developed as part of a planned community, in which important services are provided by a homeowners' association (HOA) rather than the local government. In order to finance these services, homeowners are required to pay fees to the HOA. If the fees are not paid, many states permit the HOA to put a lien on the home owner's property. See Ryan Prsha, Note, Are Non-Judicial Sales Unconstitutional? The Super-Priority Lien and Its

Influence on State Foreclosure Statutes, 81 Mo. L. Rev. 917, 921 (2016).

When homeowners experience financial distress, they may stop paying HOA fees, often in conjunction with ceasing mortgage payments. Particularly during tough economic times, the default can lead to cascading effects throughout the community – the HOA must increase dues for paying members to make up the deficit (thereby risking default by other, similarly distressed homeowners) or reduce services (thereby decreasing home values even further and possibly putting members under water on their mortgages). Id. at 920. To be sure, the HOA could file a lien on the property for the unpaid assessments. But so long as the HOA lien was junior to the mortgage, there often would be no point. Particularly in a down market, if the lender foreclosed, the sale often would not cover much more than the mortgage itself, leaving nothing for the HOA as a junior lienholder. And, indeed, if prices were suppressed sufficiently, the lender might prefer to wait to foreclose until market conditions improved. At the same time, if the HOA foreclosed as the junior lienholder, it would be forced to sell the property with the mortgage lien still attached (an unattractive proposition for most potential buyers) or pay off the mortgage before, or as part of, the sale (which might cost more than the sale price).

In response, a number of states enacted statutes to provide HOA's a "super-priority lien" for a portion of back dues. *See id.* at 921 ("Twenty different states have . . . creat[ed] a super-priority lien status for association dues."). Many of the statutes were modeled on provisions of the Uniform Condominium

Act, the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act, or the Uniform Planned Community Act.¹

In Nevada, for example, Section 116.3116(2) of the Nevada Revised Statutes gives an HOA's lien priority over even a first mortgage for nine months of unpaid dues (the lien for the rest of the dues having its ordinary priority behind the mortgage and other liens).

The Nevada Supreme Court, consistent with the decisions of other courts construing similar statutes, has held that the HOA super priority lien operates like any other senior lien – when the HOA forecloses on it, all junior lienholders are entitled to any proceeds in excess of the amount of the HOA's lien but the junior liens are extinguished. *See SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408, 411-14 (Nev. 2014).² Accordingly, just as a foreclosure initiated by the holder of a first mortgage can extinguish a second mortgage, an HOA foreclosure will extinguishes the lien held by a bank with a first mortgage or deed of trust on the property. *Id.* at 419.

¹ See Note, Priority of Condominium Associations' Assessment Liens Vis-à-Vis Mortgages: Navigating in the Super-Priority Lien Jurisdictions, 40 SEATTLE U. L. REV. 841, 843-44 (2017) [hereinafter Priority of Condominium Associations' Assessment Liens].

² See also Chase Plaza Condo. Ass'n v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 172-78 (D.C. 2014); Summerhill Village Homeowners Ass'n v. Roughley, 289 P.3d 645 (Wash. Ct. App. 2012).

3. State law generally authorizes foreclosure on a lien on real property through one or both of two methods.

First, a "judicial foreclosure" is commenced by filing an action in state court, which adjudicates the lienholder's assertion of default and any other relevant issues before authorizing sale of the property. REAL ESTATE FINANCE LAW §§ 7:12, 7:20.

Second, many states have a long history of permitting "nonjudicial foreclosures" that bypass the need for judicial or other state involvement when the process is permitted by the terms of the governing financial agreement. See, e.g., REAL ESTATE FINANCE LAW § 7:20 (process is "available in thirty-five jurisdictions"); Barrera v. Sec. Bldg. & Inv. Corp., 519 F.2d 1166, 1172 (5th Cir. 1975) (tracing practice's roots to colonial times). In a nonjudicial foreclosure, "[a]fter varying types and degrees of notice, the property is sold at a public sale, either by a public official, such as a sheriff, by some other third party, or by the mortgagee." REAL ESTATE FINANCE LAW § 7:20.3

Nevada permits nonjudicial foreclosures to collect on HOA liens when authorized under the terms of the HOA declaration. Nev. Rev. Stat.

 $^{^3}$ Nonjudicial foreclosures are sometimes called "power of sale" foreclosures, referring to the "power of sale" afforded the lender or a trustee under the mortgage or deed of trust. See REAL ESTATE FINANCE LAW § 7:20.

§ 116.31162(1).⁴ Before foreclosing, the HOA must, among other things, provide direct notice to the homeowner,⁵ record a notice of default and election to sell the property,⁶ and send a copy of such notice to "[e]ach person who has requested notice" in a document recorded in title records.⁷

"Mortgagors and junior lienors have challenged the constitutionality" of nonjudicial foreclosure laws, pointing to the lack of pre-deprivation judicial hearings and allegedly inadequate notice. Real Estate Finance Law § 7:24 & n.738 (collecting decisions). For the most part, courts have held that the Due Process Clause does not apply because nonjudicial foreclosures do not involve the state action required to invoke the protections of the Fourteenth Amendment. See id. at § 7:28. As

⁴ Unless otherwise indicated, cites to Nevada statutes are to the version in effect at the time of the 2012 foreclosure sale in this case.

⁵ *Id.* § 116.31162(1)(a).

⁶ *Id*. § 116.31162(1)(b).

⁷ *Id.* § 116.31163(1); *see also id.* § 116.31168(1) (allowing interested persons to record such requests). Petitioner and respondent have disputed whether the statute applicable at the time of the foreclosure in this case also required the HOA to provide notice to all recorded lienholders whether they requested it or not. *See* Pet. App. 11a-12a. The Ninth Circuit construed the statute not to require such notice. *Id.* 10a-12a. Recently, the Nevada legislature amended the statute to remove any ambiguity, expressly requiring direct notice to all recorded lienholders. *See* NEV. REV. STAT. § 116.31163(2); Pet. App. 12a n.4. However, as discussed *infra* at 18-22, the amendment does not diminish the need for review.

discussed next, the Ninth Circuit split from that settled authority in this case.

II. Factual And Procedural History

In 2012, petitioner bought a property at an HOA nonjudicial foreclosure sale authorized by Nevada Revised Statutes Sections 116.3116 *et seq.* Pet. App. 4a-5a. As a matter of Nevada law, the sale extinguished all junior liens, including a first trust held by respondent Wells Fargo. *Id.* 5a-6a.

Petitioner subsequently filed an action to quiet title in Nevada state court, which was removed to federal court. Wells Fargo opposed the quiet title action, alleging that the Nevada statute failed to require constitutionally adequate notice to affected lienholders. Respondent did not dispute that the HOA had given notice to the homeowners and duly recorded its lien and Notice of Default and Election to Sell, as required by statute. Nor did Wells Fargo contend that it had ever recorded a request to receive direct notice of such a sale as permitted by the state law. Indeed, Wells Fargo failed even to "present evidence that it did not receive notice." Pet. App. 8a.

Instead, respondent claimed that even if it *had* received actual notice, the foreclosure was invalid because the statute authorizing it was unconstitutional *on its face* due to its failure to require direct notice to those whose liens might be extinguished by the sale.

The district court rejected that argument and granted petitioner summary judgment, Pet. App. 33a-37a, but a divided Ninth Circuit panel reversed, *id*. 15a. The panel majority first concluded that, assuming the Due Process Clause applied, the

statute's "opt-in" notice regime failed to satisfy it, rendering the statute unconstitutional on its face. *Id*. 6a-12a.

The court then turned to "Bourne Valley's strongest argument[, which] is that there has been no 'state action' for purposes of constitutional due process." Id. 13a. The majority acknowledged that under this Court's precedents "state action requires both an alleged constitutional deprivation caused by the exercise of some right or privilege created by the State or by a rule of conduct imposed by the State or by a person for whom the State is responsible, and that the party charged with the deprivation must be a person who may fairly be said to be a state actor." Id. (quoting Am. Mfrs. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Sullivan, 526 U.S. 40, 50 (1999) (emphasis omitted) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). The court further admitted that "the foreclosure sale itself is a private action." Id. And it "acknowledge[d] that there is no state action here that 'encourages' or 'compels' a homeowners' association to foreclose on a property." *Id*. (citation omitted).

Nonetheless, the majority concluded that in "this context, where the mortgage lender and the association homeowners' had no preexisting relationship, the Nevada Legislature's enactment of the Statute is a 'state action." Id.The court acknowledged this Court's decision in *Flagg Brothers*, Inc. v. Brooks, 436 U.S. 149 (1978), Pet. App. 14a, in which the Court expressly rejected the claim that "the mere existence of a body of property law in a whether decisional or statutory, amounted to 'state action' even though no process or state officials were ever involved in enforcing that body of law." Flagg Bros., Inc., 436 U.S. at 160 n.10. But the Ninth Circuit distinguished the decision on the ground that "unlike in this case, . . . the parties had a preexisting contractual relationship as creditor and debtor." Pet. App. 14a.⁸ In the absence of such a relationship, the court held, a state's enactment of a statute authorizing a nonjudicial foreclosure that can extinguish junior liens constitutes state action subject to the Due Process Clause. Pet. App. 14a-15a

Judge Wallace dissented, rejecting, among other things, the majority's position that mere enactment of a statute regulating private conduct can render the private action state action subject to the Due Process Clause. *Id.* 15a-27a.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT

The Ninth Circuit's holding that an important state statute is facially unconstitutional is reason enough to grant review. The Nevada Supreme Court's subsequent rejection of that holding makes review imperative – the results of hundreds of cases arising from the state's foreclosure crisis during the last recession now turn on whether a quiet title action under Nevada law is decided in state or federal court.

The decision below also conflicts with the decisions of at least six circuits and eight state courts of last resort that have rejected the argument that a

⁸ But see Flagg Bros., Inc., 436 U.S. at 153 (plaintiff's personal property was put into the defendant's storage facility involuntarily, by the city marshal in the course of an eviction); *id.* at 160 (plaintiff "alleges that she never authorized the storage of her goods").

state's enactment of a statute regulating nonjudicial foreclosure renders the foreclosures a form of state action subject to the Due Process Clause. At the same time, the Ninth Circuit's contrary ruling draws into constitutional doubt the nonjudicial foreclosure laws of at least ten other states, including Arizona's in the Ninth Circuit. The decision thus casts a cloud on the title of countless properties sold in compliance with statutes whose constitutionality was reasonably deemed settled decades ago. This Court must intervene.

I. Federal Courts Of Appeals And State Courts Of Last Resort Are Divided Over Whether Nonjudicial Foreclosure Statutes Render Such Foreclosures A Form Of State Action Subject To The Due Process Clause.

The Ninth Circuit's decision conflicts with a recent decision of the Nevada Supreme Court as well as the law of numerous circuits and states.

A. The Ninth Circuit And Supreme Court Of Nevada Have Expressly Disagreed Over The Question Presented In Ruling On The Constitutionality Of The Same State Statute.

The facts of the Nevada case, Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., 388 P.3d 970 (Nev. 2017), largely mirror the facts in this one. As here, a homeowners' association availed itself of Nevada's nonjudicial foreclosure statute to foreclose on a lien for unpaid HOA dues. Id. at 971-72. The purchaser then filed suit against the previous holder of the first mortgage on the property, Wells Fargo, who is also the respondent in this case.

The new owner sought a declaration that it had taken the property free and clear of any encumbrances or liens. *Id.* at 972. Wells Fargo argued that "the foreclosure procedures specified in NRS 116.3116 *et seq.* are facially unconstitutional because they do not require an HOA to give a first security interest holder actual notice of a foreclosure that, once conducted, may extinguish the security interest." *Id.*

The Nevada Supreme Court rejected that argument on the ground that "an HOA acting pursuant to NRS 116.3116 et seg. cannot be deemed a state actor." Id. at 973. Quoting this Court's decision in Lugar v. Edmonson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 936 (1982), the Nevada Supreme Court explained that "[a]ction by a private party pursuant to [a] statute, without something more, [is] not sufficient to justify a characterization of that party as a 'state actor." Id. (emphasis and alterations in original). noted the decisions of other federal recognizing that nonjudicial foreclosure statutes do not involve state action and therefore do not "implicate due process." Id. (citing, e.g., Levine v. Stein, 560 F.2d 1175 (4th Cir. 1977); Northrip v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n, 527 F.2d 23 (6th Cir. 1975)).

The Court further directly "reject[ed] Wells Fargo's argument," accepted by the Ninth Circuit in this case, "that the Legislature may be charged with the deprivation because it enacted" the governing statute. *Id.* In doing so, the court relied on this Court's decision in *Flagg Brothers*, which it read to hold that "although the state had enacted the statute, due process was not implicated because the statute did not compel such a sale, and the state was not

otherwise involved in such a sale." Saticoy Bay, 388 P.3d at 932 (citing Flagg Bros., 436 U.S. at 157, 166). "Given this federal precedent, the Legislature's mere enactment of [the statute] does not implicate due process absent some additional showing that the state compelled the HOA to foreclose on its lien, or that the state was involved with the sale." Id. Finding that "[n]either has been demonstrated here," the court rejected Wells Fargo's due process claim. Id. at 973-74.9

In so holding, the Nevada Supreme Court expressly "acknowledge[d] that the Ninth Circuit has recently held that the Legislature's enactment of NRS 116.3116 *et seq.* does constitution state action," citing this case. *Id.* at 974 n.5. "However, for the aforementioned reasons, we decline to follow its holding." *Id.*

Wells Fargo subsequently applied for, and was granted, a stay of the judgment to permit it to file a petition for a writ of certiorari challenging the Nevada Supreme Court's state action holding. See Motion to Stay Remittur, Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., 388 P.3d 970 (Nev. 2017) (No. 68630); Order Granting Motion to Stay Remittur, Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., (No. 68630) (Nev. Feb. 8, 2017).

⁹ Having found no state action, the court decided it "need not determine" whether the statute in fact required direct notice to Wells Fargo. *Id.* at 974.

B. The Ninth Circuit's Decision Is In Conflict With The Law Of Other Circuits And States.

The Ninth Circuit held that enactment of a statute regulating nonjudicial foreclosure renders the otherwise private foreclosures a form of state action so long as the private sale can affect the property rights of lienholders who have no pre-existing contractual relationship with the foreclosing party. Pet. App. 14a-15a. Because nonjudicial foreclosure has the potential of affecting junior lienholders under the settled property law of nearly every state, ¹⁰ that holding effectively subjects all (or substantially all) states' nonjudicial foreclosure statutes to Due Process scrutiny, in contravention of the decisions of the majority of circuits and many state courts of last resort.

The D.C., First, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Circuits have all held that nonjudicial foreclosure statutes involve no state action even when authorized by state statute. See Bryant v. Jefferson Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 509 F.2d 511, 514 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (agreeing with decisions "rejecting the argument that the mere enactment of the statute constituted government action"); Grapetine v. Pawtucket Credit Union, 755 F.3d 29, 33 (1st Cir. 2014) (same for Rhode Island statute); Levine v. Stein, 560 F.2d 1175 (4th Cir. 1977) (same for Virginia statute); Barrera v. Sec. Bldg. & Inv. Corp., 519 F.2d 1166, 1170-72 (5th

¹⁰ See supra at 3.

Cir. 1975) (same for Texas statute);¹¹ Northrip v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n, 527 F.2d 23, 26-28 (6th Cir. 1975) (same for Michigan statute); Staley Farms, Inc. v. Rueter, 662 F.2d 520, 520-22 (8th Cir. 1981) (same for Iowa statute);¹²

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