#### Case No. 71839

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO CHASE HOME FINANCE LLC.

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 24 2017 04:42 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable NANCY L. ALLF, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-12-672963-C

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593 DIANA CLINE EBRON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10580

ZACHARY CLAYTON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13464

KIM GILBERT EBRON

7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89139

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Because *Nationstar*, determined that that servicer of a loan owned by a regulated entity had standing to assert 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3) based on statute and regulation and did not reach the preemption issue, the analysis regarding preemption, *Armstrong*, and *Munoz* were not germane to the result and represent dicta. *See Nationstar* 396 P.3d at 758-59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> See §I(D)

that this Court has never found that allowing the Bank to enforce HUD's rights in Court was intended by Congress.

# B. <u>HUD's Interest in Insurance Premiums From the Bank is "too</u> <u>Attenuated" to be Consider Property under the Property Clause.</u>

Even if the loan was insured by FHA, it was the Bank that owned the Deed of Trust and not HUD. Thus, the Bank's challenge to the foreclosure" under the Property Clause is meritless. The Property Clause provides that "Congress shall have Power to dispose of and make all needful Rules and Regulations respecting the Territory or other Property belong[ing] to the United States." U.S. Const. art. IV, § 3, cl. 2. Simply put, "it precludes states and private individuals from divesting the federal government—through state laws or otherwise—of title to property without congressional consent." *Freedom Mortg. Corp. v. Las Vegas Dev. Grp., LLC,* 106 F.Supp.3d 1174, 1179 (D.Nev. 2015).<sup>42</sup>

Here the Bank was the owner of the Deed of Trust until it was extinguished in the foreclosure. HUD merely was an insurer of such an interest. As stated by *Freedom Mortgage*:

HUD's status with respect to this property will likely never be anything more than a former insurer of the Castro loan, which collected premium payments but never incurred a claim-payment obligation. That interest is far too attenuated to reasonably consider the HOA's foreclosure as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> The District Court here adopted the reasoning set forth by the Hon. Judge Jennifer Dorsey in *Freedom Mortg. Corp. v. Las Vegas Dev. Grp.*, LLC, 106 F.Supp.3d 1174, 1180 (D. Nev. 2015). (4AA\_811:28-812:1.)

disposing of '[p]roperty belong[ing] to the United States' in contravention of the Property Clause.

106 F.Supp.3d at 1182. As another court noted, HUD's interest is contingent on the servicer protecting the deed of trust:

[T]o the extent HUD had some contingent interest in the property prior to the HOA foreclosure sale, the HOA foreclosure sale did not extinguish that interest in contravention of federal rights under the Property Clause. Rather, HUD long ago decided that any interest it would have in the property through its loan insurance program would be conditioned on the insured lender delivering good, marketable title.

*U.S. Bank, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, No. 2:15–cv–00287–APG–GWF, 2016 WL 1248704, at \*2 (D.Nev. Mar. 28, 2016).

Therefore, HUD owns no more interest in the Property than an automobile insurer holds in a consumer's car. Further, to be able to determine whether FHA/HUD would suffer any loss due to the foreclosure of the Property, the Bank would have to show that it fully complied with the terms and conditions and is eligible to receive funds from the FHA insurance policy. For example, if the FHA policy requires that a beneficiary or servicer pay off HOA dues prior to an HOA foreclosure sale to preserve the Deed of Trust, and the Bank failed to do so (as it did in this case), then FHA is under no obligation to reimburse the Bank for any of its losses regarding the Property. If the Bank failed to comply or is unable to comply with its obligations to FHA/HUD, then **HUD has no obligation to pay the insurance payment** and this foreclosure sale has no effect on HUD or the FHA.

Finally, it is the Bank's own failure to protect the deed of trust by failing to pay the lien or any portion thereof. Therefore, the HUD was never divested of property interest as the property belonged to the Bank not HUD. Since no federal entity was divested of property, the Bank's Property Clause arguments fail.

## 1. The Bank's Reliance on Washington & Sandhill is Misplaced

The court in *Washington & Sandhill Homeowners Ass'n, v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, No. 2:13-cv-01845-GMN, 2014 WL 4798565 (D. Nev. Sept. 25, 2014), **did not** determine that HUD insurance was a federal property interest. *Washington & Sandhill*, 2014 WL 47989565, at \*6. It expressly never reached the issue. *Id.* Furthermore, *Washington & Sandhill* relied heavily on distinguishable Ninth Circuit cases: *United States v. View Crest Garden Apartments, Inc.*, 268 F.2d 380 (9th Cir. 1959) and *United States v. Stadium Apartments, Inc.*, 425 F.2d 358 (9th Cir. 1970). In each of those cases, borrowers defaulted on HUD-insured mortgages, which were assigned to HUD before foreclosure proceedings began. *Stadium*, 425 F.2d at 360-61; *View Crest*, 268 F.2d at 382. The Ninth Circuit opted to apply judge-made federal law<sup>43</sup> because those cases involved: (i) federal question jurisdiction, <sup>44</sup> (ii) HUD as a party, <sup>45</sup> (iii) mortgages assigned to HUD, (iv) borrowers trying to use the NHA's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Stadium, 425 F.2d at 361; View Crest, 268 F.2d at 382-83.

<sup>44</sup> Stadium, 425 F.2d at 359; View Crest, 268 F.2d at 382.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Stadium, 425 F.2d at 359; View Crest, 268 F.2d at 381.

definition of "mortgage" to impose state-created remedies on HUD,<sup>46</sup> (v) federal law applied because it was the source of law for "relations between" HUD and "parties to the mortgage,"<sup>47</sup> and (vi) state law could not supply a "rule of decision" because it would erode HUD's post-assignment remedies, diminish the NHA's "purpose," and impact HUD's insurance fund.<sup>48</sup>

Here, HUD is not a party and the Bank has not alleged that it assigned the Deed of Trust to HUD, differentiating the instant matter from View Crest and Stadium Apartments. Furthermore, the U.S. Supreme Court has curtailed, if not rejected, View Crest and Stadium Apartments' robust rule of decision analyses, because "rule of decision" determinations—instances when judges engage in common law rule-making—are "few and restricted," limited to "conflicts" between state and federal policy. O'Melveny & Myers v. FDIC, 512 U.S. 79, 87-88 (1994). If there is no "conflict," then state law controls. *Id.* Here, Nevada and HUD have the same policy: banks should pay association dues. SFR, 334 P.3d at 414; HUD Handbook 4310.5, Rev-2, Ch. 4, § 4-37(A), p. 4-12. Moreover, this lawsuit involves private litigants, not the government. The government interest here is too remote or speculative to require a "uniform" judge-made federal rule. Texas Indus., Inc. v. Radcliff Materials, Inc., 451 U.S. 630, 642 (1981); Miree v. DeKalb Cnty., 433 U.S.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Stadium, 425 F.2d at 360-61; View Crest, 268 F.2d at 382.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Stadium, 425 F.2d at 360; View Crest, 268 F.2d at 382.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Stadium, 425 F.2d at 361; View Crest, 268 F.2d at 383.

25, 31 (1977); Bank of Am. Nat'l Trust & Sav. Ass'n v. Parnell, 352 U.S. 29, 33 (1956); Pankow Constr. Co. v. Advance Mortg. Corp., 618 F.2d 611, 613-14 (9th Cir. 1980). Ultimately, the Bank's reliance on Washington & Sandhill is misplaced.

## 2. Sky Meadow & Rust are Distinguishable

The Bank's reliance on Sky Meadow is bewildering. In that case, HUD stated that it "[d]oes not dispute that against any other party, [an association] could properly collect unpaid assessment fees by foreclosing . . . ." Sec'y of Hous. & Urban Dev. v. Sky Meadow Ass'n, 117 F. Supp. 2d 970, 976 (C.D. Cal. 2000). Hence, HUD's position in Sky Meadow directly rejects the Bank's misguided contentions in this case. By HUD's own account, it "does not dispute" that the Association could foreclose against the Bank. As for Rust, that case was a "[d]ispute over the power of the City of Los Angeles to foreclose on property in which the United States holds an interest." Rust v. Johnson, 597 F.2d 174, 176 (9th Cir. 1979). The issue was whether Los Angeles' foreclosure of street improvement assessments could extinguish a HUD-insured DOT, which was held by the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie"). Id. The Ninth Circuit determined extinguishment did not occur, a determination influenced by the following considerations: (i) HUD was a party, <sup>49</sup> (ii) a mortgage held by a federal instrumentality is federal "property," 50 (iii) the City

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Rust, 597 F.2d at 176-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 177.

of New Brunswick case prohibited extinguishment of federal interests,<sup>51</sup> and (iv) the Supremacy Clause prevented state law from depriving the federal government of its "property."<sup>52</sup>

Here, HUD is not a party to this case. Next, the Bank does not allege that HUD or a "federal instrumentality" holds the DOT, a factual difference between the instant matter and Rust. Finally, Rust's Supremacy Clause analysis concentrated on the relationship between state law and the federal government, scrutinizing how a state law impacted the government. Rust, 597 F.2d at 179. Here, the relationship at issue is between state law and a private entity — the Bank. Indeed, this country's highest court has determined that state law can prevent a private entity from giving property to the federal government. United States v. Burnison, 339 U.S. 87, 91 (1950); United States v. Fox, 94 U.S. 315, 320-21 (1876); see also FDIC v. Former Officers & Directors of Metro. Bank, 884 F.2d 1304, 1309 n.4 (9th Cir. 1989) ("If the state statute of limitations has expired before the government acquires a claim, that claim is not revived by transfer to a federal agency."). From the law of wills to statutes of limitations, neither the Supremacy nor the Property Clause is offended by state law prohibiting private individuals from giving property to the federal government. *Id.* The Supreme Court has even gone so far as to state that the federal government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id.* at 179.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.* at 179-80.

"[m]ay place itself in a position where its rights necessarily are determinable by state law, as when it purchases real estate from one whose title is invalid by that law in relation to another's claim." *United States v. Standard Oil Co.*, 332 U.S. 301, 308-09 (1947). In the end, *Sky Meadow* and *Rust* are distinguishable.

# C. The Bank Lacks Standing to Enforce Federal Statutes Specifically Authorized by Congress to be Enforced by HUD.

This Court can affirm the District Court's Order finding that the Bank, a private litigant, does not have standing to raise arguments belonging to HUD. Only Congress through a law's text determines who can enforce a federal statute. Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Care Ctr., Inc., 575 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 135 S.Ct. 1378, 1383-85 (2015). Here, Congress expressly authorized HUD's Secretary to enforce the NHA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 1701c(a), 1702, 1708(a)(1), 1709(r), 1710(g), 1710(i); 42 U.S.C. § 3535(i)(1). For example, "[t]he powers conferred by [the NHA] shall be exercised by the Secretary[.]" 12 U.S.C. § 1702. In "carrying out the provisions of" the NHA, the Secretary is "[a]uthorized, in his official capacity, to sue and be sued[.]" *Id*. The Secretary is also "[a]uthorized to . . . commence any action to protect or enforce any right conferred upon him[.]" 42 U.S.C. § 3535(i)(1). Moreover, the Bank has been unable to articulate what law or regulation allows HUD to seek assistance in protecting their alleged property interest nor has the Bank shown that the law allows HUD to contract for assistance in fulfilling any function of HUD.

What needs to be remembered is that "Article I vests Congress with broad discretion over the manner of implementing its enumerated powers, giving it authority to 'make all Laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying [them] into Execution." *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. at 1383 *citing* U.S. Const. art. I, § 8. The *Armstrong* Court went on to say "[i]t is unlikely that the Constitution gave Congress such broad discretion with regard to the enactment of laws, while simultaneously limiting Congress's power over the manner of their implementation, making it impossible to leave the enforcement of federal law to federal actors." *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. at 1383-84. "Thus, if possible at all, a private actor would need the express intent of Congress to enforce federal law as anything less would strip away the right of Congress to implement its own laws. *See Id*. Here, the Bank is a private litigant and therefore cannot assert a cause of action under the Supremacy Clause.

Further support is provided by *Freedom Mortgage*. when the Court stated that "the federal government is the best advocate of its own interests." 106 F.Supp.3d 1174, 1180 (D.Nev. 2015). In coming to this conclusion, *Freedom Mortgage* stated:

We 'must hesitate before resolving a controversy on the basis of the rights of third persons not parties to the litigation" for two reasons. "First, the courts should not adjudicate such rights unnecessarily, and it may be that in fact the holders of those rights do not wish to assert them.' ... 'Second, third parties themselves usually will be the best proponents of their own rights. The courts depend on effective advocacy, and therefore should prefer to construe legal rights only when the most effective advocates of those rights are before them.'

Freedom Mortg.\_106 F. Supp. 3d at 1180 quoting The Wilderness Soc'y v. Kane Cnty., Utah, 632 F.3d 1162, 1171-72 (10th Cir.2011).

Therefore, the District Court was correct in its determination that the Bank lacked standing to invoke the Supremacy Clause to defeat NRS 116.

## D. NRS 116 does not Conflict with the FHA Insurance Program.

Assuming the Bank could assert the Supremacy Clause, NRS 116 is not preempted by federal law because there is no actual conflict between NRS 116 and HUD/FHA's policies. As noted in *Freedom Mortgage*, the purpose of HUD is not frustrated by NRS 116 because Nevada homeowners association laws "are entirely consistent with [HUD's] goals of improving residential community development, eliminating blight, and preserving property values." 106 F.Supp.3d at 1188. In fact, HUD's policy is not only consistent with Nevada homeowners association laws; it is harmonious because "[i]n superpriority lien states, the HUD-insured lenders' obligation to prevent foreclosure by satisfying HOA liens in not an aspirational goal; it's a requirement." *Id.* at 1184.

In *Freedom Mortgage*, the loan was insured by the FHA by HUD. The borrower defaulted on the association assessments, and the association conducted a proper non-judicial foreclosure sale. *Id.* at 1177. The property was then sold to an investor. *Id.* Following the *SFR* decision, the lender filed a complaint and claimed that the property could not have been extinguished by the foreclosure sale because

the loan was insured by HUD. *Id.* The Court concluded that there was no conflict preemption because a lender has the ability to comply with Nevada law **and** HUD's policies and procedures. *Id.* at 1183-1186. In fact, "[n]othing prevents a lender from simultaneously complying with HUD's program and Nevada's HOA-foreclosure laws." *Id.* at 1184. HUD provides that lenders must make sure that all assessments (including HOA assessments) are paid so that liens do not attach to the property. *Id.* HUD specifically directs lenders to pay outstanding liens, which includes HOA fees and assessments, in order to prevent foreclosure in superpriority lien states – a directive that is in line with Nevada's HOA lien law. *Id.* at 1185-1186.

As such, the Court found that the bank's loss was a result of its own failure to follow HUD's policies and procedures. *Id.* at 1186. Thus, the Court ultimately concluded that the association foreclosure sale was not barred by the Supremacy Clause and that the foreclosure sale extinguished the lender's security interest in the property. *Id.* at 1189. Like the bank in *Freedom Mortgage*, the Bank here ignored HUD's directive when it failed to pay the past due assessments owed on the subject property. Now the Bank can only blame itself for the loss. In short, NRS Chapter 116 does not conflict with FHA/HUD policies; instead, it comports with FHA/HUD policies, and therefore summary judgment in favor of SFR was warranted.

# II. No RETROACTIVITY ANALYSIS IS REQUIRED WHERE A STATUTE IS BEING INTERPRETED.

The Bank argues that SFR should not be applied retroactively, specifically

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